Review

Endothelial Dysfunction and Reactive Oxygen Species Production in Ischemia/Reperfusion and Nitrate Tolerance

K. Szőcs

Institute of Experimental Pharmacology, Slovak Academy of Sciences, Bratislava, Slovakia

Abstract. Reactive oxygen species (ROS), as superoxide and its metabolites, have important roles in vascular homeostasis as they are involved in various signaling processes. In many cardiovascular disease states, however, the release of ROS is increased. Uncontrolled ROS production leads to impaired endothelial function and consequently to vascular dysfunction. This review focuses on two clinical conditions associated with elevated ROS levels: ischemia/reperfusion and nitrate tolerance. Injury caused by ischemia/reperfusion is an important limitation of transplantations, and complicates the management of stroke and myocardial infarction. Nitrates, which are used to treat transient myocardial ischemia (angina pectoris), decrease in efficacy in long-term continuous administration. There are several enzyme systems, such as xanthine oxidase, cyclooxygenase, uncoupled endothelial nitric oxide synthase, NAD(P)H oxidase, cytochrome P450 and the mitochondrial electron transport chain, which are responsible for the increased vascular production of superoxide. The contribution of particular ROS producing enzymes and the effect of antioxidant treatment are discussed in both pathological conditions.

Key words: Reactive oxygen species — Ischemia/reperfusion — Nitrate tolerance — NADPH oxidases — Nitric oxide synthase

Contents

Introduction	6
Endothelial dysfunction as an indicator of vascular pathology	7
Ischemia/reperfusion injury	
Nitrate tolerance	
Sources of ROS in blood vessels	4
ROS sources in ischemia/reperfusion27	8
Xanthine oxidase	
Mitochondrial oxidase	

Correspondence to: Katalin Szőcs, Institute of Experimental Pharmacology, Slovak Academy of Sciences, Dúbravská cesta 9, 841 04 Bratislava 4, Slovakia E-mail: exfakati@savba.sk

Nitric oxide synthase	
$NAD(P)H \ oxidase$	
ROS sources in nitrate tolerance	282
Nitric oxide synthase	
$NAD(P)H \ oxidase$	
Summary and therapeutic implications	285
References	286

Introduction

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are recognized as important signaling molecules in the cardiovascular system. By oxidizing cysteine residues ROS alter the activity of target proteins (e.g. transcription factors, protein phosphatases) and induce redoxsensitive gene transcription, smooth muscle cell growth and motility (Chiarugi and Cirri 2003). Elevated ROS, however, inhibit cell growth and in even higher concentrations induce apoptosis (Bladier et al. 1997). Excess ROS production may injure vascular tissue by multiple mechanisms. For example, ROS can react with vasoactive substances and impair responses to vasodilators. Long-term exposure to ROS oxidizes proteins and lipids and damages DNA. These harmful actions together result in vascular injury (reviewed in Bauer and Bauer 1999). Since the endothelium is the most vulnerable component of the vessel wall, it is not surprising that the first functional abnormality common to many vascular diseases is endothelial dysfunction.

Enhanced production of ROS, in particular superoxide (O_2^{--}) , has been implicated in the pathogenesis of a number of cardiovascular diseases including atherosclerosis, coronary artery disease, hypertension and diabetes mellitus (Cai and Harrison 2000). In addition, ROS are frequently elevated in patients with one or more cardiovascular risk factors, for example in smokers or in patients with hypercholesterolemia. Moreover, increased ROS production is associated with clinical conditions like ischemia/reperfusion (I/R). Tissue injury caused by I/R is a frequent complication of surgical procedures, transplantation, stroke, circulatory shock, coronary artery disease, etc. (Li and Jackson 2002; Carlucci et al. 2002). Myocardial ischemia (i.e. lack of oxygen due to inadequate perfusion) manifests as angina pectoris, the clinical sign of ischemic heart disease. Although nitrates are valuable drugs in treatment of recurrent ischemic heart attacks, their continuous use is complicated by the rapidly developing tolerance. Since elevated ROS concentrations are also present in nitrate tolerance, they could also play a causal role in this condition.

Involvement of ROS in the development of endothelial dysfunction is described in the first part of the review. Two pathological states in which increased ROS contribute to impaired vascular relaxation, i.e. injury caused by I/R and nitrate tolerance, are then discussed in detail. Contribution of specific ROS producing enzyme systems in these pathophysiological states will be reviewed last.

Endothelial dysfunction as an indicator of vascular pathology

The inner layer of blood vessels, the vascular endothelium, is an active organ with paracrine, endocrine, and autocrine activities and it is crucial for the regulation of vascular tone and maintenance of vascular homeostasis. It produces the endothelium-derived relaxing factor nitric oxide ('NO) and several other vasodilating agents, including prostacyclin and the endothelium-dependent hyperpolarizing factor (EDHF). Endothelial cells also produce contracting factors, such as endothelin-1 (ET-1) and thromboxane (Vanhoutte 2000). Recently, $O_2^{:-}$ has also been classified as a vasoconstrictor agent derived from endothelial cells (Vanhoutte 2000; Rey et al. 2001).

•NO can interact whith O_2^{--} , forming peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) (Fig. 1) and also by other ROS and lipid radicals. Under physiological conditions, ROS production is low and the endogenous antioxidant systems are sufficient to maintain the balance between O_2^{--} production and elimination, thus preventing the breakdown of •NO. In disease states in which the production of ROS is increased or the antioxidant capacity of the vessel is decreased, •NO is transformed to ONOO⁻, resulting in inhibition of endothelial-dependent relaxation (O'Donnell et al. 1997) (Fig. 1). In addition, reduced expression or activity of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) can also decrease •NO bioavailability.

Increased production of ROS is thought to be one of the key events in the pathogenesis of endothelial dysfunction. In 1986, before 'NO was identified as the endothelium-derived relaxing factor, Rubanyi and Vanhoutte (1986) already showed that superoxide dismutase (SOD) augmented endothelium-dependent relaxation. Their observation was confirmed by several later studies demonstrating improved vascular responses to vasodilators after SOD administration (d'Uscio et al. 2001; Steinhorn et al. 2001; Jung et al. 2003).

Impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation is often the first sign of adverse cardiovascular events and can predict their long-term outcome (Schachinger et al. 2000; Perticone et al. 2001). Clinical evaluation of endothelial function is thus an important diagnostic tool. This is frequently done by analysis of acetylcholine (ACh)-induced relaxation (Erbs et al. 2003) or flow-dependent dilatation of the radial artery using ultrasound probes (Hambrecht et al. 2000). In endothelial dysfunction, the sensitivity and maximal relaxation in response to vasodilators which act *via* the endothelium is decreased, while vascular responses to sodium nitroprusside, which acts directly on vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMC), are unchanged. Inhibitors of nitric oxide synthase (NOS) or generators of ROS, for example pyrogallol (Haj-Yehia et al. 1999), decrease endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation to ACh. Thus, both decreased 'NO and increased ROS levels contribute to endothelial dysfunction.

Altered function of the vascular endothelium is associated with arterial hypertension (Taddei and Salvetti 2002), preeclampsia (Page 2002), diabetes (Makimattila and Yki-Jarvinen 2002), atherosclerosis (Anderson 2003), heart failure (Linke et al. 2003), coronary artery disease (Schachinger et al. 2000), nitrate tolerance (Mun-



Figure 1. ROS production and its consequences during I/R and nitratetolerance in vessel wall. Under physiological conditions, eNOS forms 'NO and citrulline from L-arginine. 'NO, directly or by inhibiting ET-1 release, promotes vasorelaxation. In I/R and nitrate-tolerance there is an imbalance between 'NO and O_2^{--} formation. Enzymes contributing to increased O_2^{--} production include the mitochondrial electron transport chain, NAD(P)H oxidase, xanthine oxidase (XO), eNOS. Excess of O_2^{--} results in 'NO inactivation through peroxinitrite (ONOO⁻⁻) formation and consequently to decreased endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation, and eventually to vasocontriction. ONOO⁻⁻ is also a potent oxidant, it mediates lipid peroxidation and eNOS uncoupling. O_2^{--} can be dismutated to H_2O_2 (spontaneously or by CuZnSOD). In the presence of metal ions, H_2O_2 can be further metabolized to hydroxyl radical. L-Arg, L-arginine; H_2B , dihydrobiopterin; H_4B , tetrahydrobiopterin; XD, xanthine dehydrogenase; SOD, superoxide dismutase.

zel et al. 1995) and clinical conditions linked to ischemia followed by reperfusion (Sotnikova et al. 1998; Pagliaro et al. 2003). In these disease states, the production of ROS is increased and the beneficial effect of antioxidants suggests that ROS contribute to the development of endothelial dysfunction (Cai and Harrison 2000). Administration of probucol to cholesterol fed rabbits, for example, decreased vascular $O_2^{\cdot-}$ production and improved endothelium-dependent relaxations (Inoue et al. 1998). The membrane-permeable polyethylene glycol SOD (Mügge et al. 1991), glutathione (GSH) (Prasad et al. 1999), vitamin C (Ting et al. 1995; Gokce et al. 1999) and vitamin E (Heitzer et al. 1999) increase 'NO bioavailability. Estradiol, which also has indirect antioxidant properties, was found to increase coronary blood flow in postmenopausal women with coronary artery disease (Blumel et al. 2003). Antioxidants reverse also endothelial vasomotor dysfunction in patients with risk factors for coronary artery disease (smokers, hypercholesterolemic patients) and improve vasodilation of atherosclerotic vessels. Recent clinical data showed that acute administration of vitamin C to patients with coronary artery disease restored peripheral endothelial function by reducing elevated levels of ROS (Erbs et al. 2003).

In summary, endothelial dysfunction is present in many vascular diseases and pathological conditions. The protective role of antioxidants indicates that increased ROS production, and consequently low 'NO bioavailability, are responsible for the impaired vasorelaxation. Vascular injury, as caused by I/R, and tolerance to nitrates, drugs used in the treatment of myocardial ischemia and its prevention, are both associated with elevated ROS levels. The following sections are focusing on the involvement of ROS in the pathogenesis of these two conditions.

Ischemia/reperfusion injury

One of the earliest events following I/R injury is vascular dysfunction linked to altered function of endothelial cells. Both ischemia (hypoxia) and reperfusion (reoxygenation) are important in human pathophysiology as they occur in various clinical conditions, for example during circulatory shock, stroke, organ transplantations (Li and Jackson 2002) or coronary artery bypass surgery (Carlucci et al. 2002). These events are associated with increased oxidative stress and endothelial damage.

Increased ROS levels have been classically attributed to exposure of ischemic tissues to molecular oxygen during reperfusion (reoxygenation) (Zweier et al. 1994; Kim et al. 1998, Bauer et al. 2002). Indeed, the largest increase in ROS production is usually observed within the first 15 min of reperfusion (Kim et al. 1998; Buttemeyer et al. 2002; Bertuglia and Giusti 2003; Bertuglia et al. 2004). Furthermore, increased ROS production was detected by luminol or lucigenin in rat superior mesenteric arteries one hour after reperfusion following a 30-min ischemia (Haklar et al. 1998). This rapid burst of oxygen-derived free radicals during reperfusion coincides with the time course of endothelial dysfunction. While 90 or 120 min of ischemia alone did not alter vascular responses, the reactivity of the endothelium to ACh was attenuated as soon as 2.5 min following initiation of reperfusion (Tsao et al. 1990;

Hayward and Lefer 1998). Neither did partial occlusion of the abdominal aorta of rats for 18 h change vascular responses significantly. However, if prolonged ischemia was followed by a 30-min reperfusion, endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation was impaired (Sotníková et al. 1998). Reperfusion lasting up to 120 min further reduced vascular responses to endothelium-dependent vasodilators, which remained altered even more than 4 h after blood flow renewal (Tsao et al. 1990; Hayward and Lefer 1998). Similarly, in superior mesenteric arteries of mice and rats, I/R for either 45/45 min or 30/60 min decreased vasodilatory responses to ACh by approximately 40%, compared to sham-operated animals (Banda et al. 1997; Chen et al. 2000).

Although initial studies suggested that ROS were predominantly produced during reperfusion, recent discoveries showed that hypoxia itself could also increase ROS production in various tissues (Vanden Hoek et al. 1997; Li and Jackson 2002; Pearlstein et al. 2002). For example, increased superoxide production was detected *in vivo* within 10 min of femoral artery occlusion (Buttemeyer et al. 2002). In arteries injured by ischemia, ROS production returned to basal levels when oxygen tension recovered completely, which may take 30 min after clamp removal (Bertuglia and Giusti 2003).

Endothelial dysfunction induced by I/R is manifested with a delay of a few minutes following increased vascular ROS production and is maintained for a longer period (hours) than elevated ROS levels. For example, in hamster cheek pouch arterioles, while elevated ROS returned to normal as soon as 30 min after ischemia, the arteriolar diameter kept decreasing (Bertuglia and Giusti 2003). Coronary blood flow was also found significantly decreased after 30 min of reperfusion (Pernow and Wang 1999). Similarly, impaired vasodilatory responses to ACh were observed in superior mesenteric arteries 120 min after reperfusion (Hayward and Lefer 1998). However, 60/120 min I/R did not affect sensitivity to ACh in rabbit major conduit arteries (Koksoy et al. 2000). This may be due to the higher resistance of some large rather than small arteries to I/R. Thus the small vessels seem to be more sensitive to hypoxia than the large ones. In arterioles and capillaries, hypoxic conditions are maintained even after restoration of blood flow in adjacent arteries. Hypoxic injury, manifested by endothelial cell swelling, leads to the "no reflow" phenomenon within the first minutes of reperfusion (Menger et al. 1992). If the ischemic period lasts for several hours, hypoxia-induced continuous ROS release impairs the endothelial barrier, increases vascular permeability and thus damages nearby tissues (Plateel et al. 1995). Electronmicroscopical examination of 18 h/30 min I/R revealed structural changes, such as edematous mitochondria in both endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells, microvilli formation on the surface of endothelial cells, increased pinocytic activity and disturbed tight junctions between endothelial cells (Sotníková et al. 1998). 20 min after reperfusion, polymorphonuclear cells adhered to the endothelium (Hayward and Lefer 1998). Adhesion of polymorphonuclear cells to the vessel wall further impairs vascular function. Recent data indicate that leukocyte adhesion is due to endothelial dysfunction, as a consequence of oxidative stress. Both decomposition of 'NO during reperfusion and inhibition of 'NO synthesis increased leukocyte adherence to the venular wall (Bertuglia and Giusti 2003), suggesting a protective role of 'NO in maintaining a non-adherent endothelial surface. These phagocytic cells continue to produce ROS and injure endothelial cells, which contributes to later loss of vasomotor tone control. This could explain the prolonged endothelial dysfunction and the protective action of SOD long after ROS production in the vessel wall (within endothelial cells and VSMC) has returned to normal.

Decreased 'NO availability, at least in part, has been attributed to the activity of O_2^{--} formed during reperfusion in endothelial cells (Zweier et al. 1994) and neutrophils (Fabian and Kent 1999). Studies performed *in vivo* suggest the involvement of at least two ROS in I/R injury. As demonstrated with dihydroethidium (DHE) and dichlorofluorescein (DCF) fluorescence, both O_2^{--} and hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) were elevated in endothelial cells during hypoxia (Kim et al. 1998; Li and Jackson 2002; Pearlstein et al. 2002). Another mechanism by which ROS injure cells and impair endothelial function involves generation of hydroxyl radical ([•]OH) by surface-associated iron, which reacts with H₂O₂. This was demonstrated by the protective effect of iron chelators and 'OH scavengers on reoxygenated endothelial cell permeability (Terada 1996). Pretreatment with stobadine, a pyridoindole derivative, which is known to scavenge 'OH, exerted protective effect on I/R induced injury (Sotníková et al. 1998).

MnSOD overexpression or exogenous SOD administration protects against I/R injury (SOD mimetics were reviewed in Salvemini and Cuzzocrea (2003). For example, pretreatment with SOD before reperfusion maintained ROS at normal levels, prevented lipid peroxidation, increased arteriolar diameter and decreased leukocyte adhesion in hamster microcirculation (Bertuglia and Giusti 2003; Nakae et al. 2003). Similarly catalase, if delivered directly to the endothelium using specific antibodies, protected against oxidative stress during lung transplantation in the rat. This antioxidant enzyme restores the barrier function of the endothelium, as shown by decreased lung graft edema and reduced number of intracapillary, interstitial and intraalveolar neutrophils (Christofidou-Solomidou et al. 2003; Kozower et al. 2003).

Upregulation of endogenous antioxidant enzymes is likely to contribute to the beneficial effect of ischemic or hyperthermic preconditioning (Hoshida et al. 2002; Pagliaro et al. 2003). These techniques, involving application of a short ischemia or hyperthermia for several minutes to hours before I/R, improved the ability of the tissue to withstand subsequent ischemia. For example, a brief ischemia applied before prolonged occlusion of the left anterior descending coronary artery attenuated reperfusion injury in dogs. In this experiment both pre- and postconditioning (a short reperfusion period during ischemia) decreased oxidative stress and increased maximal vasodilatory response to ACh (Zhao et al. 2003). Similarly, a short-term body temperature elevation prior to I/R preserved endothelium dependent vasodilation (Chen et al. 2000). Exercise is another physical stress that induces protection against ischemia. In patients with coronary artery disease, long-term aerobic exercise improves endothelium-dependent vasodilation (Hambrecht et al. 2000). Following exercise, vascular CuZnSOD activity is induced and NAD(P)H-oxidase expression is decreased. These changes are expected to decrease oxidative stress and thereby to contribute to improved endothelial function (Rush et al. 2003).

'NO, besides acting directly as a vasodilator, inhibited the release of ET-1 (Vanhoutte 2000). This potent vasoconstrictor is produced in arteries by endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells. Similarly, production of ET-1 was enhanced by I/R injury in the myocardium (Gourine et al. 2001). ET-1 levels were increased also in blood samples collected from the coronary sinus 30 min after reperfusion, and they most likely contribute to the vasoconstrictive response (Carlucci et al. 2002).

Thus, I/R is linked to increased ROS production both during the ischemic and early reperfusion period, leading to decreased 'NO availability, vasoconstriction and leukocyte adhesion. Upregulation of antioxidant enzymes by preconditioning techniques or physical exercise improves vascular responses to vasodilators. In addition to non-pharmacological management of coronary artery disease, organic nitrates are generally used to treat transient ischemic attacks. This medication, however, is not straightforward, since it is accompanied by undesirable vascular reaction, i.e. nitrate tolerance, as seen in the next section.

Nitrate tolerance

Nitrates are frequently used in the management of coronary artery disease. They cause vasorelaxation by releasing 'NO from the parent molecule in vascular smooth muscle (Wong and Fukuto 1999). Due to general vasodilation, ventricular volume and arterial pressure are lowered, thus myocardial oxygen requirement decreases, which manifests as relief from angina. Although acute application of nitrates is a highly efficient vasodilator and anti-ischemic therapeutic, prolonged continuous administration for more than 12 to 24 h leads to desensitization, an effect referred to as nitrate tolerance (Munzel et al. 1995). In healthy volunteers, a continuous 6-day treatment with nitroglycerine patches led to decreases in ACh-induced vasodilation and consequently to a decrease in forearm blood flow (Gori et al. 2001). In order to minimize the tolerance and restore useful responses to the drug, patients are advised to keep nitrate-free periods daily, at least for 8 h. This approach, however, has two drawbacks. The first is the lack of tissue protection during the nitrate-free period, and the second is rebound ischemia upon nitrate withdrawal (Thadani 1997).

Tolerance has most frequently been reported in the case of nitroglycerine (NTG), historically the first therapeutic organic nitrate (Munzel et al. 1995; Leopold and Loscalzo 2003). However, all other members of this pharmacological class, such as amyl nitrite and isosorbide dinitrate, induce tolerance and cross-tolerance (Munzel 2001). This means that the vascular response is decreased not only to NTG but also to other endothelium-dependent and -independent nitrovasodilators.

Several mechanisms may account for the phenomenon of nitrate tolerance, or tachyphylaxis. The first one is oxidative changes following nitrate administration. Intracellular thiols, such as GSH and cysteine, are involved in the conversion of nitrates to their bioactive metabolite ('NO). For example, in rat aortic cytosol,

glutathione S-transferases, which catalyze the conversion of NTG, were shown to require glutathione as a cosubstrate (Nigam et al. 1996). The activity of the mitochondrial aldehyde reductase, recently identified as another site of NTG bioactivation, seems to depend also on sulfhydryl groups (Chen et al. 2002).

The second mechanism explaining the beneficial effects of thiol donors and other antioxidants on vascular relaxation is based on their $O_2^{,-}$ lowering property. Thus, exogenous administration of the thiol compound N-acetylcysteine augmented the hypotensive effect of NTG even if intracellular arterial and venous thiol levels were similar in nitrate-tolerant and control animals (Boesgaard 1995). Other antioxidants improving vascular responses to NTG (assessed by forearm plethysmography) in long-term nitrate-treated patients include vitamins C and E (Watanabe et al. 1997; Watanabe et al. 1998). Consistent with this effect of antioxidants, increased $O_2^{\bullet-}$ generation was observed in nitrate-tolerant rabbit arteries (Munzel et al. 1995). In this model, the main site of its production appears to be the vascular endothelium, since endothelial denudation decreased ROS levels. Platelets of healthy volunteers also enhanced $O_2^{,-}$ generation upon 3-day exposure to NTG (McVeigh et al. 2002). Both tolerance to nitrates and cross-tolerance to other vasodilators, ACh for example, are specific to long-term treatment, and can be reversed by SOD administration. Treatment with liposomal SOD, which can act intracellularly, significantly enhanced relaxations to NTG in NTG-tolerant rabbit aortic segments with endothelium (Munzel et al. 1995). However, as expected, administration of conventional SOD at lower concentration did not significantly improve vasodilatory responses of a ortic strips in the same model (Nakae et al. 2003).

A third possible mechanism of nitrate tolerance involves downstream targets of 'NO (Fig. 2) since impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation to ACh was also observed following overexpression of eNOS in mice leading to elevated basal 'NO and cyclic guanosyl monophosphate (cGMP) (Ohashi et al. 1998; Yamashita et al. 2000). The expression of two downstream 'NO targets, soluble guanylyl cyclase (GC) and the cGMP-dependent protein kinase (cGK), remained unaltered upon long-term nitrate intake (Schulz et al. 2002). GC activity was found increased if NTG was administered in combination with cysteine (Artz et al. 2002). Therefore in the presence of thiol groups nitrate tolerance may result from impaired cGK activity. This enzyme catalyzes vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein (VASP) phosphorylation and mediates vasorelaxation (Lincoln et al. 2001) (Fig. 2). A recent study showed decreased phospho-VASP (P-VASP) staining, a marker of cGK activity, in arteries of patients previously treated with nitroglycerine. Their arteries also exhibited increased superoxide production (Schulz et al. 2002). Treatment with the antioxidant vitamin C partially reversed tolerance, correlating with reduced vascular O_2^{-} and elevated P-VASP levels (Mulsch et al. 2001). The peroxynitrite scavenger, ebselen, showed similar effects. In nitrate-tolerant aortic rings ebselen enhanced P-VASP formation, decreased ROS levels and improved vascular responses to NTG (Hink et al. 2003).

Other factors contributing to nitrate tolerance include neurohormonal counter-



Figure 2. Downstream targets of 'NO. 'NO, produced by NOS, activates the target enzyme – soluble guanylyl cyclase – and increases tissue levels of cGMP. cGMP activates a cGMP-dependent protein kinase that mediates vasorelaxation. NOS, nitric oxide synthase; GC, soluble guanylyl cyclase; cGK, cGMP-dependent protein kinase; VASP, vasodilator-stimulated phosphoproteinf.

regulatory mechanisms activated by the fall in blood pressure upon 'NO intake. One of these is the renin-angiotensin system (RAS). Its inhibition by angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors or AT_1 receptor blockers ameliorated nitrate tolerance (Berkenboom et al. 1999; Kurz et al. 1999).

Thus, several mechanisms may contribute to nitrate tolerance (reviewed in detail by Leopold and Loscalzo 2003). These mechanisms are not mutually exclusive, while increased ROS production is considered the main factor. Neurohormonal activation leads to stimulation of the renin angiotensin system, thus increasing ROS formation, which in turn deplete intracellular sulfhydryl groups. Increased oxidative stress is associated with decreased cGK activity, which manifests as endothelial dysfunction.

Sources of ROS in blood vessels

Multiple ROS are produced in the vascular wall, such as O_2^{-} , H_2O_2 , and 'OH (Fig. 1). These molecules, if present in physiological concentrations, have important functions in homeostasis. The primary oxygen-derived free radical produced in the vasculature appears to be O_2^{-} , which is formed by univalent reduction of molecular oxygen (³O₂). This radical is involved in signal transduction pathways leading for example to vascular smooth muscle proliferation, migration and hypertrophy (Cai

and Harrison 2000). These effects are mediated either directly by O_2^{-} or by its metabolites.

Dismutation of O_2^{-} by SOD or nonenzymatic univalent reduction of this radical generates H_2O_2 , which acts as a second messenger (Griendling et al. 2000a) and also regulates vascular tone. Depending on the concentration and the type of artery, H_2O_2 can induce either contraction (Sotnikova 1998; Nowicki et al. 2001) or relaxation (Matoba et al. 2000). H_2O_2 may be inactivated by conversion to water and molecular oxygen in a reaction catalyzed by glutathione peroxidase or catalase.

In the presence of metal ions, H_2O_2 can give rise to 'OH (Fenton reaction). This very reactive radical participates in lipid hydroperoxidation and leads to injury of endothelial cells, for example upon reperfusion (Kontos 2001). On the other hand, 'OH may also induce relaxation of uninjured, norepinephrine-precontracted aortic strips (Prasad and Bharadwaj 1996). Since this effect of the 'OH generating system is concentration-dependent, it is possible that certain physiological amounts of this radical do not damage the endothelium.

There are many potential sources of cellular O_2^{-} , including membrane and mitochondrial NAD(P)H oxidases, cyclooxygenase, cytochrome P450, xanthine oxidase (XO) and NOS (Fig. 1). In unstimulated systems, non-mitochondrial NAD(P)H oxidases are a major source of $O_2^{\cdot-}$ in the vessel wall (Griendling et al. 2000b). In contrast to the neutrophil enzyme, vascular NAD(P)H oxidases are activated more slowly and produce superoxide at a lower rate. However, both the neutrophil and vascular oxidases are flavoproteins and most likely have similar subunit composition (Griendling et al. 2000b; Lassegue and Clempus 2003). The phagocytic oxidase consists of 5 major subunits: gp91phox (which is also referred to as nox2) and p22phox are the membrane subunits; p47phox, p67phox and rac1 are located in the cytoplasm (Babior et al. 2002) (Fig. 3). Most of these subunits and some of their homologues were recently detected in vascular tissue. Homologues of the catalytic subunit gp91phox which are expressed in the vasculature include nox1, nox4, nox5 and duox1 (Lassegue et al. 2001; Lassegue and Clempus 2003). Homologues of the cytosolic subunits were also recently described (Banfi et al. 2003; Geiszt et al. 2003) but their expression in the vascular wall has not been reported.

eNOS is another important source of O_2^{--} in the vessel wall. Besides being the source of 'NO, this enzyme can produce O_2^{*-} and H_2O_2 in the absence of either L-arginine (L-Arg) or tetrahydrobiopterin (H₄B) (Parker et al. 2002). In this dysfunctional state, known as NOS uncoupling, reductive activation of molecular oxygen to form O_2^{*-} is not followed by oxidation of L-Arg and 'NO synthesis (Landmesser and Harrison 2001).

Arachidonic acid metabolism is another potential source of ROS. Cyclooxygenase, which converts arachidonic acid into prostaglandin, as well as lipoxygenase, responsible for leukotriene synthesis, can both contribute to ROS production (Kukreja et al. 1986). However, in the vessel wall these enzymes usually seem to be insignificant sources of ROS, since their inhibitors, indomethacin and eicosatetraenoic acid, do not decrease superoxide production (Mohazzab and Wolin 1994).



Figure 3. Structure of the NAD(P)H oxidases. The phagocytic NAD(P)H oxidase is composed of 2 membrane subunits, nox2 (a. k. a. gp91phox, the catalytic component) and p22phox, and of 3 cytosolic subunits, p47phox, p67phox, p40phox, and of a small molecular weight G protein, rac. These components are also expressed in vascular cells, but the interaction between them remains to be determined. In addition, novel members of the nox family of proteins, such as nox1, nox4 and nox5, seem to serve as catalytic components of the vascular oxidase. The catalytic component contains flavine adenine dinucleotide (FAD) and heme (H) groups, which participate in electron transfer. P, phosphate group; GTP, guanosyl triphosphate; NADPH, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate. (Scheme adapted from Lassegue et al. 2001).

Microsomal cytochrome P450 enzymes (CYP), which convert arachidonic acid to epoxyeicosatrienoic acids (EET), can also generate varying amounts of oxygenderived free radicals (Puntarulo and Cederbaum 1998). One of the CYP isoforms, CYP 2C9, identified as an EDHF synthase, is another source of ROS in the vasculature. Expression of this enzyme was detected in porcine coronary endothelial cells, where it most likely contributes to basal ROS production (Fleming et al. 2001).

The xanthine oxidoreductase enzyme, which is involved in purine metabolism, is present in vascular tissue in two forms: xanthine dehydrogenase (XD) and xanthine oxidase (XO) (Fig. 4). The constitutively expressed XD can be converted in certain conditions to XO (reviewed in Meneshian and Bulkley 2002), which is capable of generating O_2^{--} and H_2O_2 by reducing molecular oxygen.

Finally, the mitochondrial electron transport chain is another possible source of vascular ROS (Fig. 5). During oxidative phosphorylation, electrons are transferred through complexes I–III to cytochrome oxidase (complex IV), which in normoxia reduces molecular oxygen to water. Under physiological conditions only a small fraction of the oxygen consumed by mitochondria is converted to superoxide, Figure 4. ROS formation by xanthine oxidase. During purine metabolism, ATP is degraded to ADP, AMP and adenosine, which is further metabolized to inosine and hypoxanthine. XO catalyzes the final step of this metabolic pathway, i.e. the conversion of hypoxanthine to xanthine and xanthine to uric acid. In these reactions O_2 serves as an electron acceptor. By its respective univalent or divalent reduction, $O_2^{\bullet-}$ and H_2O_2 are formed. (Scheme adapted from Bauer et al. 2002). XD, xanthine dehydrogenase; XO, xanthine oxidase.



which is rapidly dismutated by MnSOD (Raha et al. 2000). In contrast in hypoxia, mitochondria seem to be an important source of ROS in endothelial cells (Pearlstein et al. 2002). There are multiple possible sites for ROS generation within the mitochondrial respiratory chain. For example, complexes I and III were identified as main sites of H_2O_2 generation (Kwong and Sohal 1998).

The enzymes just mentioned have been associated with vascular $O_2^{,-}$ overproduction. In addition, decreased activity of antioxidant enzymes also contributes



intracellular space

Figure 5. ROS generation in mitochondria. Under physiological conditions, the free energy of electron transfer from NADH and $FADH_2$ to O_2 is coupled to ATP synthesis. Due to leakage from the mitochondrial electron transport chain, only a small amount of O_2^{-} is produced, which is converted by MnSOD to H₂O₂. In ischemia, the inhibition of complex IV increases ROS production mainly by complex III. K.C., Krebs cycle; C I–V, mitochondrial complexes.

to elevated ROS levels in pathological conditions. Both prooxidant and antioxidant enzyme systems have an important role in the development of endothelial dysfunction in I/R injury and nitrate tolerance.

ROS sources in ischemia/reperfusion

During ischemia and reperfusion, increases in various ROS, such as $O_2^{\cdot-}$ and $\cdot OH$, as well as reactive nitrogen species, e.g. ONOO⁻ can be detected in tissues (Li and Jackson 2002). These reactive oxygen and nitrogen species are derived from diverse cellular and molecular sources in vessels. Both endothelial cells and circulating phagocytes produce ROS during I/R (Al-Mehdi et al. 1998; Kaminski et al. 2002). While endothelial cells produce $O_2^{\bullet-}$ continuously, neutrophils become more important with longer periods of reperfusion as they adhere to the endothelium and become activated (Fabian and Kent 1999). The most important source of ROS in phagocytic cells is the NADPH oxidase, which catalyzes the reduction of molecular oxygen to $O_2^{\bullet-}$. This radical in turn gives rise to other reactive oxygen metabolites, which can diffuse into endothelial cells and injure them. Endothelial cells themselves also produce ROS. For example, in cerebral arteries O_2^{--} production is increased 1–4 h after reperfusion. Subcellular microscopical examination shows that O_2^{-} is localized in cytosolic vesicles (Kim et al. 2002). Various enzymes are potential sources of ROS in the vessel wall. The involvement of each of these oxidases to I/R injury will be presented in more detail in the following sections.

Xanthine oxidase

The reaction of XO with hypoxanthine and molecular oxygen to produce a burst of oxygen radicals was implicated in reperfusion models more than 20 years ago (Parks et al. 1983). Xanthine dehydrogenase, which uses NAD⁺ as a substrate, is converted under ischemic conditions to XO, which uses oxygen as an electron acceptor (substrate). Due to ATP consumption during hypoxia, hypoxanthine and xanthine are accumulated in the tissue, which upon reoxygenation are metabolized by XO and yield O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 (Granger 1988) (Fig. 4). In the vessel wall, this conversion and increased activity of XO occurs in the endothelial layer during I/R. Some of this enzyme also circulates in the blood and can bind to endothelial cells.

The activity of XO is increased for example in reoxygenated human umbilical veins 2 h after the hypoxic period (termed late reoxygenation) (Sohn et al. 2003). Inhibition of this enzyme has protective effect in some models of I/R. Oxypurinol similarly to SOD decreases brain cortical endothelial cell damage caused by 10-h anoxia and 4-h reoxygenation, as measured by lactate dehydrogenase efflux into the culture medium (Beetsch et al. 1998). Another XO inhibitor, allopurinol, also restores venodilation responses to ACh in rats (Flynn et al. 1999).

However, I/R injury also occurs when XO activity is low or absent (Muxfeldt and Schaper 1987). This is the case in patients undergoing coronary bypass surgery. At the end of the ischemic period, and also 30 min following clamp removal, the ratio of reduced/oxidized glutathione (GSH/GSSG) in the plasma is decreased,

indicating increased oxidative stress. Levels of hypoxanthine were increased in the plasma collected from the coronary sinus. Nevertheless, xanthine and uric acid levels were found to be low, suggesting low XO activity (Carlucci et al. 2002).

Thus, the role of XO in I/R injury is variable. This oxidase seems to be important for example in human umbilical vein reperfusion (Sohn et al. 2003), in maintaining optimal mesenteric artery microcirculation upon resuscitation from hemorrhagic shock (Flynn et al. 1999) and in the *in vitro* model of cerebral endothelial cell reoxygenation (Beetsch et al. 1998). On the other hand, there are several reports, where the contribution of XO is not critical for ROS generation in I/R. This suggests involvement of other enzyme systems, as discussed in the following sections.

Mitochondrial oxidase

Absence of the final electron acceptor increases ROS production in the mitochondria by complexes I–III (Fig. 5), of which complex III seems to be the most important (Pearlstein et al. 2002; Waypa and Schumacker 2002). Increased ROS levels observed in endothelial cells during hypoxia could be due to inhibition of cytochrome oxidase (complex IV) activity and increased O_2^{--} production by the ubisemiquinone at complex III (Pearlstein et al. 2002). O_2^{--} and H_2O_2 released to the cytoplasm through anion channels and by diffusion, respectively, can act as intracellular signaling messengers linking tissue hypoxia to the subsequent responses. Mitochondria, by means of ROS production have been suggested to function as oxygen sensors in pulmonary artery endothelial cells and myocytes. Although the exact mechanism is still being debated, ROS derived from the mitochondria are thought to mediate vasoconstriction in hypoxic pulmonary arteries, thereby decreasing blood flow through hypoventilated alveoli (Waypa and Schumacker 2002).

In contrast to these signaling roles, ROS produced by the mitochondria during hypoxia/reoxygenation have harmful effects. Increased endothelial cell permeability is related to hypoxia-induced oxidative stress (Pearlstein et al. 2002). Exposure to hypoxia for 6 h followed by a 45-min reoxygenation period increased O_2^{-} generation in bovine brain endothelial cells. Excess O_2^{-} production was prevented by blocking the first two complexes of the mitochondrial electron transport chain, suggesting that mitochondria are the main sources of ROS formed during reoxygenation (Kimura et al. 2000). A negative correlation between the number of perfused postischemic sinusoids and the mitochondrial redox state also indicates an important role of mitochondria in hepatic microcirculation (Glanemann et al. 2003).

Decreased activity of antioxidant mitochondrial enzymes, such as MnSOD, further increases ROS release during hypoxia. Cardiac I/R significantly reduced mitochondrial SOD and glutathione peroxidase activities, so that enzymatic degradation of $O_2^{\bullet-}$ and H_2O_2 was compromised (Shlafer et al. 1987). There are thus two mechanisms, inhibited electron transfer through cytochromes and decreased antioxidant enzymatic activity, leading to excessive mitochondrial ROS production during I/R.

Nitric oxide synthase

In the absence of its substrate and/or cofactor NOS was shown to produce O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 (Vasquez-Vivar et al. 1998). Administration of the substrate L-Arg decreased coronary vascular resistance, increased blood flow and thereby reduced the extent of myocardial I/R injury (Agullo et al. 1999; Pernow and Wang 1999). Infusion of 'NO donors had a similar effect on the ischemic myocardium, indicating that maintenance of 'NO release is an important factor in protecting tissues from reperfusion injury. In an *in vitro* model of vascular hypoxia and reoxygenation, incubation of hypoxic endothelial cells with L-Arg decreased ferryl hemoglobin formation in the medium, which is a measure of oxidative stress (D'Agnillo et al. 2000). A recent study showed that L-Arg may provide protection against I/R injury in transplantations as well as in routine cardiac surgery. This was demonstrated in a model of rat heart transplantation, where polymers of L-Arg improved coronary flow and reduced myocardial oxidative stress (Kown et al. 2003).

•NO synthesis also depends on the availability of H_4B , a NOS cofactor modulated by the redox state of the cell. H_4B is decreased in several pathophysiological conditions, including coronary artery disease and I/R. Deficiency of H_4B seems to accelerate endothelial dysfunction and myocardial I/R injury, while pretreatment with this cofactor reduced functional and metabolic abnormalities (Yamashiro et al. 2003).

In contrast to short ischemia, eNOS upregulation and increased 'NO formation was detected in endothelial cells exposed for 8 h to mild hypoxia (Sohn et al. 2003). Long-term hypoxic conditions thus may lead to increased 'NO levels by activation of antioxidant enzymes and NOS upregulation.

Hypoxia alone or followed by reoxygenation also increased $O_2^{\cdot-}$ production in endothelial cells (D'Agnillo et al. 2000; Kimura et al. 2000). As soon as it is produced, $O_2^{\cdot-}$ acts as a scavenger of 'NO to which it combines to form ONOO⁻. This radical is more potent in oxidizing H₄B than $O_2^{\cdot-}$ and uncouples NOS (Laursen et al. 2001). Therefore, $O_2^{\cdot-}$ production by eNOS appears to be a self-induced mechanism triggered by interaction with a primary $O_2^{\cdot-}$ source. An important candidate for such interaction is the non-phagocytic NAD(P)H oxidase.

NAD(P)H oxidase

The role of the vascular NAD(P)H oxidase in I/R injury can be studied with the help of inhibitors, such as diphenyleneiodonium (DPI), apocynin, as well as a natural proline- and arginine-rich antibactetrial peptide (PR-39). While DPI inhibits all flavoproteins, the latter two are more specific since they prevent oxidase assembly by binding to the cytosolic subunit p47phox. For example, apocynin concentration-dependently inhibited NADH-stimulated O_2^{--} production in rat aorta, thus increasing 'NO bioavailability and vasorelaxation (Hamilton et al. 2002).

Endothelial cells exposed to 24-h hypoxia showed an almost 3-fold increase in H_2O_2 production immediately upon reperfusion, which was not reversed by inhibitors of XO, cyclooxygenase, NOS, CYP450 or mitochondrial electron transport (Zulueta et al. 1995). In contrast, DPI, and/or the protein kinase C (PKC) inhibitor calphostin, reduced H_2O_2 release in whole endothelial cells as well as in a membrane fraction (Zulueta et al. 1995). These results suggest that a PKCdependent flavoprotein, such as NAD(P)H oxidase, is involved in hypoxia-induced O_2^{-} production.

In isolated sheep lungs, 30 min of ischemia followed by 180 min of reperfusion increased vascular permeability, which was prevented by preincubation with apocynin (Dodd and Pearse 2000). High concentrations (0.3 and 3 mmol/l) of this NAD(P)H oxidase inhibitor increased pulmonary artery pressure observed in I/R specimens after 30-min reperfusion. In the same model, apocynin or DPI administration decreased O_2^{--} production in the blood (Dodd and Pearse 2000), possibly by inhibiting both the neutrophil and vascular NAD(P)H oxidase.

In rat liver, I/R obtained by hepatic artery and portal vein clamping induced a biphasic increase in ROS production (Ozaki et al. 2000). The early oxidative burst in this tissue occurred within 5 min of reperfusion in the absence of neutrophils, suggesting that ROS were produced by the ischemic tissue itself. This increase in superoxide production was inhibited by SOD and dominant-negative rac1, while gp91phox deficiency had no effect on O_2^- production. Therefore a rac1 containing oxidase, which is different from the neutrophil oxidase, such as one of the vascular homologues, appears to be responsible for the early increase in O_2^- production in hepatic tissue during I/R (Ozaki et al. 2000).

The production of ROS in vascular smooth muscle cells also seems to require the small GTP-binding protein rac1. Primary cultures of rat vascular smooth muscle cells showed a 10-fold increase in ROS production after 16 h/5 min hypoxia/reoxygenation, which was reversed by rac1 inhibition using dominant-negative adenovirus transduction (Kim et al. 1998). Similarly, ROS production, detected by DCF, was inhibited when the cells were preincubated with N-acetylcysteine, catalase or DPI (Kim et al. 1998). Although this method of ROS measurement detects predominantly H_2O_2 , results from electron spin resonance measurements showed that rac1 increased $O_2^{\cdot-}$ generation, which is subsequently dismutated to H_2O_2 (Irani et al. 1997). Thus, rac1 as a component of the NAD(P)H oxidase seems to contribute to increased $O_2^{\cdot-}$ production in vascular smooth muscle during hypoxia/reoxygenation.

ROS production is similarly increased in a model of lung ischemia, called – because of maintained ventilation – "oxygenated ischemia". Blocking lung perfusion for 1 h led to a 7-fold increase in DCF fluorescence indicating H_2O_2 generation (Al-Mehdi et al. 1998). Tissue infiltration by phagocytes was low in this model, and fluorescence was localized predominantly to endothelial cells. PR-39 dose dependently inhibited ROS generation and tissue lipid peroxidation. Thus a non-phagocytic NAD(P)H oxidase appears to be responsible for ROS production.

Multiple cellular sources of ROS may account for their increased generation during I/R. XO was identified as the first enzyme producing excess O_2^{*-} , later studies demonstrated the important contribution of the mitochondrial respiratory chain, NAD(P)H oxidase and eNOS to ROS-induced reperfusion injury. A low

activity of antioxidant enzymes, such as GSH peroxidase, GSH reductase, SOD, and catalase was also observed after prolonged (24–48 h) endothelial cell hypoxia (Plateel et al. 1995). Overall, increased ROS production by oxidases and decreased antioxidant capacity lead to injury in I/R.

Maintaining the balance between 'NO and ROS is important to protect blood vessels from I/R-induced injury. 'NO prevents neutrophil infiltration, has antiplatelet activating factor properties, preserves vascular permeability and endothelial function. Treatments increasing 'NO bioavailability, for example L-Arg, H₄B, or simply 'NO donors, have great therapeutic potential in conditions associated with I/R. However, long-term nitrate administration can also lead to increased ROS formation, as further elaborated.

ROS sources in nitrate tolerance

In nitrate tolerant arteries, the production of $O_2^{\cdot-}$ and its metabolite ONOO⁻ are increased. The main source of $O_2^{\cdot-}$ appears to be the endothelium (Munzel and Harrison 1997), although, as shown by dihydroethidium staining, other components of the vessel wall also produce $O_2^{\cdot-}$ (Schulz et al. 2002). Positive staining for nitrotyrosine indicates that ONOO⁻ formation is also increased throughout the vessel wall (Mihm et al. 1999). Moreover, platelets are other potential sources of $O_2^{\cdot-}$ in nitrate tolerance (McVeigh et al. 2002).

Two enzymes are important sources of increased ROS production in nitrate tolerance. Firstly, uncoupled endothelial NOS and secondly, the vascular NAD(P)H oxidase, which releases low concentrations of O_2^{--} into the cytoplasm and further alters the physiological function of NOS.

Nitric oxide synthase

Recent studies suggest that prolonged NTG treatment induces a dysfunctional state of NOS (Munzel et al. 2000). In healthy vessels, ACh induces vasodilation mediated by 'NO release, which is blocked by NOS inhibitors. For example, the L-Arg antagonists N-monomethyl-L-Arg (L-NMMA), N^{ω}-nitro-L-arginine (L-NNA) and L-nitroarginine methyl ester (L-NAME) decrease vasorelaxation and increase O_2^{-} production in healthy large arteries (for references see Table 1). In contrast, when applied to nitrate-tolerant vessels NOS inhibitors improved responses to ACh, suggesting that NOS was uncoupled, thus producing the vasoconstrictor O_2^{--} rather than 'NO (Gori et al. 2001). Similar results were obtained in cultured endothelial cells exposed to NTG (Kaesemeyer et al. 2000). Vascular responses to L-NAME were, however, restored when the animals were pretreated with low doses of pravastatin or atorvastatin, most likely due to their $O_2^{\cdot--}$ lowering effect (Fontaine et al. 2003).

Both $O_2^{\cdot-}$ and ONOO⁻ can oxidize H_4B to H_2B , and thereby uncouple eNOS (Landmesser et al. 2003). SOD administration decreases tissue superoxide levels and improves relaxation (Munzel et al. 1995). Similarly, increased ROS production in nitrate-tolerant vessels can be reversed by supplementation with L-Arg,

			1	
NOS	Untreated vessels		Nitrate-tolerant vessels	
inhibitor	$O_2^{\bullet-}$ production	Vasorelaxation	$O_2^{\bullet-}$ production	Vasorelaxation
L-NMMA	$\uparrow({\rm Guzik}$ et al. 2002)	\downarrow (Ishibashi et al. 2001)		\uparrow (Gori et al. 2001)
	\uparrow (Boger et al. 2000)	\downarrow (Gori et al. 2001)		
		\downarrow (Heitzer et al. 2000)		
L-NNA	\uparrow (Oelze et al. 2000)	\downarrow (Yada et al. 2003	\downarrow (Munzel et al. 2000)	\uparrow (Gruhn et al. 2001)
	\uparrow (Munzel et al. 2000)	\downarrow (Matoba et al. 2000)		
	$\uparrow (Mollnau \ et \ al. \ 2002)$	\downarrow (Sotnikova 1998)		
L-NAME	$\uparrow(\text{Laursen et al. 2001})$	\downarrow (Guzik et al. 2002)	\downarrow (Kaesemeyer et al. 2000) EC	\uparrow (Nakae et al. 2003)
	$\uparrow({\rm Muzaffar} \mbox{ et al. } 2003)$	\downarrow (Ruiz et al. 1997)	\uparrow (Fontaine et al. 2003) statins	\downarrow (Yamashita et al. 2000)
		\downarrow (Imaoka et al. 1999)		\downarrow (Fontaine et al. 2003) statins

Table 1. Effect of nitric oxide synthase (NOS) inhibitors on $O_2^{\cdot-}$ production and endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation

EC, endothelial cells.

 H_4B , or antioxidant folates. Depleted intracellular stores of L-Arg are thought to contribute to abnormal NOS activity in nitrate-tolerant patients, as suggested by the fact that supplementation with L-Arg improves NOS dysfunction caused by nitrates (Parker et al. 2002). In vivo administration of H_4B also reduced O_2^{-} production (Vasquez-Vivar et al. 1998) and improved 'NO availability (Tiefenbacher 2001). Similarly, H_4B or folic acid can prevent endothelial dysfunction induced by continuous nitroglycerin treatment in healthy volunteers (Gori et al. 2001; Gori et al. 2003; Leopold and Loscalzo 2003). Several mechanisms have been suggested to explain the protective function of folates. First, the O_2^{--} scavenging capability of folates could prevent NOS uncoupling. Second, folates may stabilize H_4B and improve its regeneration from H_2B . Third, they could affect eNOS directly and increase the production of 'NO, rather than of O_2^{--} (Verhaar et al. 2002).

The function of NOS depends on other ROS producing enzyme systems of the vessel wall, which by providing $O_2^{\cdot-}$ and ONOO⁻ may oxidize H₄B to H₂B thereby inducing NOS uncoupling. The vascular NAD(P)H oxidase, for example, is suggested to play such role by generating low amounts of $O_2^{\cdot-}$, the "kindling radical" (Landmesser et al. 2003).

NAD(P)H oxidase

Increased O_2^{--} production in aortic rings of nitrate-tolerant rabbits can be normalized by DPI, suggesting that O_2^{--} is generated by a flavoprotein (Munzel et al. 1995). Specific inhibitors of several vascular oxidases (including flavoproteins, e.g. NOS, XO, mitochondrial oxidase and CYP450), however, failed to affect O_2^{--} production. In contrast, addition of enzyme substrates NADH or NADPH to nitratetolerant rat aorta increased O_2^{--} -derived chemiluminescence (Fontaine et al. 2003). The lipid-lowering statins showed beneficial effect on endothelial function in patients receiving long-term nitrate treatment (Inoue et al. 2003). Statins lower O_2^{--} production in nitrate tolerant vessels without increasing eNOS abundance, indicating that they improve vasorelaxation by decreasing O_2^{--} production rather than by directly increasing 'NO synthesis (Fontaine et al. 2003). Indeed, atorvastatin inhibited the expression and activation of NAD(P)H oxidase (Wassmann et al. 2002). Responses to vasodilators and O_2^{--} lowering properties of statins were found impaired in the presence of NADH or NADPH (Fontaine et al. 2003). On balance, these data indicate that an NAD(P)H oxidase is activated in nitrate tolerance.

The mechanism by which NAD(P)H oxidase becomes activated may involve neurohumoral pathways (Munzel and Harrison 1997; Mollnau et al. 2002). Their activation is due to the fall in blood pressure caused by vasodilation upon nitrate intake. Increased plasma renin activity in nitrate-tolerant patients indicates renin angiotensin system (RAS) activation (Munzel et al. 1996). Angiotensin II is known to increase NAD(P)H oxidase activity (Lassegue et al. 2001), and this activation seems to require PKC (Mollnau et al. 2002). In nitrate tolerance, PKC inhibitors prevented the increased vasoconstriction to phenylephrine and improved relaxation to NTG (Zierhut and Ball 1996). Conversely, the PKC activator phorbol ester 12,13-dibutyrate (PDBu) induced significantly increased vasoconstriction in NTG tolerant compared to control arteries (Munzel and Harrison 1997).

Nonintermittent nitrate administration was accompanied by abnormal platelet activation, resulting in their increased $O_2^{\bullet-}$ release (McVeigh et al. 2002). Addition of NADH increased, whereas DPI abolished $O_2^{\bullet-}$ production. Oxypurinol, rotenone and indomethacine had no effect on platelet NADH oxidoreductase activity (McVeigh et al. 2002). These results indicate that a platelet oxidase similar to the vascular NAD(P)H oxidase may be an additional source of $O_2^{\bullet-}$ upon long-term nitrate treatment.

Thus NAD(P)H oxidases contained in the vessel wall and in platelets seem to be important contributors to elevated ROS production that accompanies nitrate tolerance. The product of these enzymes, $O_2^{\cdot-}$ as well as ONOO⁻, uncouple eNOS by oxidizing H₄B, which in turn leads to increased $O_2^{\cdot-}$ production. Therefore, interaction of these enzymes is involved in development of nitrate tolerance.

Summary and therapeutic implication

Increased ROS production complicates clinical conditions associated with I/R and also the continuous nitrate administration used for the treatment of recurrent ischemic heart attacks. The first sign of vessel impairment under these circumstances is endothelial dysfunction. ROS are known to play an important role in its development.

Several enzymes in the vessel wall are involved in $O_2^{\cdot-}$ overproduction in these conditions. Even small increases in the release of ROS, such as $O_2^{\cdot-}$ and ONOO⁻, may have an impact on endothelial physiology as they can uncouple eNOS (Landmesser and Harrison 2001).

Antioxidant vitamins or folates, due to their low toxicity and minimal side effects, may be useful tools in preventing I/R injury and nitrate tolerance, since they reverse endothelial dysfunction (Verhaar et al. 2002; Erbs et al. 2003). SOD has also a beneficial effect in vascular pathologies accompanied by increased ROS production. However, other studies reported an inconsistent outcome of antioxidant supplementation and the native SOD has been found unsuitable for clinical use.

Recent data suggest that the production and metabolism of ROS is compartmentalized within the cell (Lassegue and Clempus 2003). One of the reasons why exogenous antioxidants are not consistently effective in restoring endothelial function in I/R or nitrate tolerance could be their low ability to penetrate cellular membranes. Newly synthetized SOD mimetics are proposed to overcome this limitation, since they are small molecules and cross membranes easily (Salvemini and Cuzzocrea 2003).

However, it is important to note that ROS have a dual function in the vasculature. This may be another reason that systemic delivery of antioxidant enzymes is not always optimal. Although ROS are often considered toxic, they also have physiological roles in the endothelium. H_2O_2 for example is a potential candidate for EDHF in human mesenteric (Matoba et al. 2002) and coronary circulation (Yada et al. 2003). Besides the role of O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 on vascular relaxation, ROS also have signaling functions (Griendling et al. 2000a), they can for example stimulate endothelial cell migration and angiogenesis (Ushio-Fukai et al. 2002). Thus, ROS can act as messengers during coronary collateral development in the ischemic myocardium, as shown with frequently repeated brief occlusions and reperfusion of the artery (Gu et al. 2003).

Targeted delivery of antioxidant drugs is an interesting approach to face the harmful effects of ROS. With cell specific antibodies (immunotargeting) antioxidant enzymes can be delivered to the sites of increased ROS production. Since the endothelium is an important source of ROS during ischemia and also in nitrate tolerant vessels, endothelial cell targeting can be used to prevent vascular dysfunction (Kozower et al. 2003). Another way of specific targeting is to direct pharmacological agents to specific enzymes (for example to inhibit oxidases responsible for ROS overproduction). Recognizing the exact enzymatic sources is therefore important for designing specific therapies.

Acknowledgements. I am grateful to Dr. Bernard Lassègue for his comments and helpful suggestions upon reading the manuscript. This work was supported by grants: APVT 20-02802 and VEGA 2/2052/22.

References

- Agullo L., Garcia-Dorado D., Inserte J., Paniagua A., Pyrhonen P., Llevadot J., Soler-Soler J. (1999): L-arginine limits myocardial cell death secondary to hypoxiareoxygenation by a cGMP-dependent mechanism. Am. J. Physiol. – Heart Circ. Physiol. 276, H1574—1580
- Al-Mehdi A. B., Zhao G., Dodia C., Tozawa K., Costa K., Muzykantov V., Ross C., Blecha F., Dinauer M., Fisher A. B. (1998): Endothelial NADPH oxidase as the source of oxidants in lungs exposed to ischemia or high K⁺. Circ. Res. 83, 730—737
- Anderson T. J. (2003): Nitric oxide, a therosclerosis and the clinical relevance of endothelial dysfunction. Heart Fail. Rev. 8, 71–86
- Artz J. D., Schmidt B., McCracken J. L., Marletta M. A. (2002): Effects of nitroglycerin on soluble guanylate cyclase: implications for nitrate tolerance. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 18253—18256
- Babior B. M., Lambeth J. D., Nauseef W. (2002): The neutrophil NADPH oxidase. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. **397**, 342—344
- Banda M. A., Lefer D. J., Granger D. N. (1997): Postischemic endothelium-dependent vascular reactivity is preserved in adhesion molecule-deficient mice. Am. J. Physiol. – Heart Circ. Physiol. 273, H2721—2725
- Banfi B., Clark R. A., Steger K., Krause K. H. (2003): Two novel proteins activate superoxide generation by the NADPH oxidase NOX1. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 3510—3513
- Bauer V., Bauer F. (1999): Reactive oxygen species as mediators of tissue protection and injury. Gen. Physiol. Biophys. 18 (Focus Issue), 7—14
- Bauer V., Mátyás Š., Štolc S., Sotníková R., Nosáľová V. (2002): Pathophysiology and pharmacology of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Reactive oxygen species as mediators of tissue injury, diseases and their pharmacology. http://www.bps.ac.uk/ epharnet/ros.ppt

- Beetsch J. W., Park T. S., Dugan L. L., Shah A. R., Gidday J. M. (1998): Xanthine oxidase-derived superoxide causes reoxygenation injury of ischemic cerebral endothelial cells. Brain Res. 786, 89—95
- Berkenboom G., Fontaine D., Unger P., Baldassarre S., Preumont N., Fontaine J. (1999): Absence of nitrate tolerance after long-term treatment with ramipril: an endothelium-dependent mechanism. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 34, 547—553
- Bertuglia S., Giusti A. (2003): Microvascular oxygenation, oxidative stress, NO suppression and superoxide dismutase during postischemic reperfusion. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 285, H1064—1071
- Bertuglia S., Giusti A., Del Soldato P. (2004): Antioxidant activity of a nitro derivative of aspirin against ischemia-reperfusion in hamster cheek pouch microcirculation. Am. J. Physiol.-Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 286, G437—443
- Bladier C., Wolvetang E. J., Hutchinson P., de Haan J. B., Kola I. (1997): Response of a primary human fibroblast cell line to H₂O₂: senescence-like growth arrest or apoptosis? Cell Growth Differ. 8, 589–598
- Blumel J. E., Castelo-Branco C., Leal T., Gallardo L., Saini J., Ferron S., Haya J. (2003): Effects of transdermal estrogens on endothelial function in postmenopausal women with coronary disease. Climacteric 6, 38—44
- Boesgaard S. (1995): Thiol compounds and organic nitrates. Dan. Med. Bull. 42, 473-484
- Boger R. H., Bode-Boger S. M., Tsao P. S., Lin P. S., Chan J. R., Cooke J. P. (2000): An endogenous inhibitor of nitric oxide synthase regulates endothelial adhesiveness for monocytes. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 36, 2287—2295
- Buttemeyer R., Philipp A. W., Mall J. W., Ge B., Scheller F. W., Lisdat F. (2002): In vivo measurement of oxygen-derived free radicals during reperfusion injury. Microsurgery 22, 108—113
- Cai H., Harrison D. G. (2000): Endothelial dysfunction in cardiovascular diseases: the role of oxidant stress. Circ. Res. 87, 840—844
- Carlucci F., Tabucchi A., Biagioli B., Simeone F., Scolletta S., Rosi F., Marinello E. (2002): Cardiac surgery: myocardial energy balance, antioxidant status and endothelial function after ischemia-reperfusion. Biomed. Pharmacother. 56, 483—491
- Chen G., Kelly C., Chen H., Leahy A., Bouchier-Hayes D. (2000): Thermotolerance preserves endothelial vasomotor function during ischemia/reperfusion. J. Surg. Res. 94, 13—17
- Chen Z., Zhang J., Stamler J. S. (2002): Identification of the enzymatic mechanism of nitroglycerin bioactivation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **99**, 8306—8311
- Chiarugi P., Cirri P. (2003): Redox regulation of protein tyrosine phosphatases during receptor tyrosine kinase transduction. Trends Biochem. Sci. 28, 509–514
- Christofidou-Solomidou M., Scherpereel A., Wiewrodt R., Ng K., Sweitzer T., Arguiri E., Shuvaev V., Solomides C. C., Albelda S. M., Muzykantov V. R. (2003): PECAMdirected delivery of catalase to endothelium protects against pulmonary vascular oxidative stress. Am. J. Physiol. – Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 285, L283—292
- d'Uscio L. V., Baker T. A., Mantilla C. B., Smith L., Weiler D., Sieck G. C., Katusic Z. S. (2001): Mechanism of endothelial dysfunction in apolipoprotein E–deficient mice. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. **21**, 1017—1022
- D'Agnillo F., Wood F., Porras C., Macdonald V. W., Alayash A. I. (2000): Effects of hypoxia and glutathione depletion on hemoglobin- and myoglobin-mediated oxidative stress toward endothelium. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1495, 150—159
- Dodd O. J., Pearse D. B. (2000): Effect of the NADPH oxidase inhibitor apocynin on ischemia-reperfusion lung injury. Am. J. Physiol. – Heart Circ. Physiol. 279, H303—312

- Erbs S., Gielen S., Linke A., Mobius-Winkler S., Adams V., Baither Y., Schuler G., Hambrecht R. (2003): Improvement of peripheral endothelial dysfunction by acute vitamin C application: different effects in patients with coronary artery disease, ischemic, and dilated cardiomyopathy. Am. Heart J. 146, 280—285
- Fabian R. H., Kent T. A. (1999): Superoxide anion production during reperfusion is reduced by an antineutrophil antibody after prolonged cerebral ischemia. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 26, 355—361
- Fleming I., Michaelis U. R., Bredenkotter D., Fisslthaler B., Dehghani F., Brandes R. P., Busse R. (2001): Endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor synthase (Cytochrome P450 2C9) is a functionally significant source of reactive oxygen species in coronary arteries. Circ. Res. 88, 44—51
- Flynn W. J. Jr., Pilati D., Hoover E. L. (1999): Effect of allopurinol on venous endothelial dysfunction after resuscitated hemorrhagic shock. Int. J. Surg. Investig. 1, 11—18
- Fontaine D., Otto A., Fontaine J., Berkenboom G. (2003): Prevention of nitrate tolerance by long-term treatment with statins. Cardiovasc. Drugs. Ther. 17, 123—128
- Geiszt M., Lekstrom K., Witta J., Leto T. L. (2003): Proteins homologous to p47phox and p67phox support superoxide production by NAD(P)H oxidase 1 in colon epithelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 20006—20012
- Glanemann M., Vollmar B., Nussler A. K., Schaefer T., Neuhaus P., Menger M. D. (2003): Ischemic preconditioning protects from hepatic ischemia/reperfusion-injury by preservation of microcirculation and mitochondrial redox-state. J. Hepatol. 38, 59—66
- Gokce N., Keaney J. F. Jr., Frei B., Holbrook M., Olesiak M., Zachariah B. J., Leeuwenburgh C., Heinecke J. W., Vita J. A. (1999): Long-term ascorbic acid administration reverses endothelial vasomotor dysfunction in patients with coronary artery disease. Circulation 99, 3234—3240
- Gori T., Mak S. S., Kelly S., Parker J. D. (2001): Evidence supporting abnormalities in nitric oxide synthase function induced by nitroglycerin in humans. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 38, 1096—1101
- Gori T., Saunders L., Ahmed S., Parker J. D. (2003): Effect of folic acid on nitrate tolerance in healthy volunteers: differences between arterial and venous circulation. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 41, 185—190
- Gourine A. V., Gonon A. T., Pernow J. (2001): Involvement of nitric oxide in cardioprotective effect of endothelin receptor antagonist during ischemia-reperfusion. Am. J. Physiol. – Heart Circ. Physiol. 280, H1105—1112
- Granger D. N. (1988): Role of xanthine oxidase and granulocytes in ischemia-reperfusion injury. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 255, H1269—1275
- Griendling K. K., Sorescu D., Lassegue B., Ushio-Fukai M. (2000a): Modulation of protein kinase activity and gene expression by reactive oxygen species and their role in vascular physiology and pathophysiology. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 20, 2175—2183
- Griendling K. K., Sorescu D., Ushio-Fukai M. (2000b): NAD(P)H oxidase: role in cardiovascular biology and disease. Circ. Res. 86, 494—501
- Gruhn N., Aldershvile J., Boesgaard S. (2001): Tetrahydrobiopterin improves endothelium-dependent vasodilation in nitroglycerin-tolerant rats. Eur. J. Pharmacol. **416**, 245—249
- Gu W., Weihrauch D., Tanaka K., Tessmer J. P., Pagel P. S., Kersten J. R., Chilian W. M., Warltier D. C. (2003): Reactive oxygen species are critical mediators of coronary collateral development in a canine model. Am. J. Physiol. – Heart Circ. Physiol. 285, H1582—1589

- Guzik T. J., West N. E., Pillai R., Taggart D. P., Channon K. M. (2002): Nitric oxide modulates superoxide release and peroxynitrite formation in human blood vessels. Hypertension **39**, 1088—1094
- Haj-Yehia A. I., Nassar T., Assaf P., Nassar H., Anggard E. E. (1999): Effects of the superoxide dismutase-mimic compound TEMPOL on oxidant stress-mediated endothelial dysfunction. Antioxid. Redox. Signal. 1, 221—232
- Haklar G., Ulukaya-Durakbasa C., Yuksel M., Dagli T., Yalcin A. S. (1998): Oxygen radicals and nitric oxide in rat mesenteric ischaemia-reperfusion: modulation by L-arginine and NG-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester. Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol. 25, 908—912
- Hambrecht R., Wolf A., Gielen S., Linke A., Hofer J., Erbs S., Schoene N., Schuler G. (2000): Effect of exercise on coronary endothelial function in patients with coronary artery disease. N. Engl. J. Med. **342**, 454—460
- Hamilton C. A., Brosnan M. J., Al-Benna S., Berg G., Dominiczak A. F. (2002): NAD(P)H oxidase inhibition improves endothelial function in rat and human blood vessels. Hypertension 40, 755—762
- Hayward R., Lefer A. M. (1998): Time course of endothelial-neutrophil interaction in splanchnic artery ischemia-reperfusion. Am. J. Physiol. – Heart Circ. Physiol. 275, H2080—2086
- Heitzer T., Yla Herttuala S., Wild E., Luoma J., Drexler H. (1999): Effect of vitamin E on endothelial vasodilator function in patients with hypercholesterolemia, chronic smoking or both. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 33, 499—505
- Heitzer T., Brockhoff C., Mayer B., Warnholtz A., Mollnau H., Henne S., Meinertz T., Munzel T. (2000): Tetrahydrobiopterin improves endothelium-dependent vasodilation in chronic smokers: evidence for a dysfunctional nitric oxide synthase. Circ. Res. 86, E36—41
- Hink U., Oelze M., Kolb P., Bachschmid M., Zou M. H., Daiber A., Mollnau H., August M., Baldus S., Tsilimingas N., Walter U., Ullrich V., Munzel T. (2003): Role for peroxynitrite in the inhibition of prostacyclin synthase in nitrate tolerance. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 42, 1826—1834
- Hoshida S., Yamashita N., Otsu K., Hori M. (2002): The importance of manganese superoxide dismutase in delayed preconditioning: involvement of reactive oxygen species and cytokines. Cardiovasc. Res. 55, 495–505
- Imaoka Y., Osanai T., Kamada T., Mio Y., Satoh K., Okumura K. (1999): Nitric oxidedependent vasodilator mechanism is not impaired by hypertension but is diminished with aging in the rat aorta. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 33, 756—761
- Inoue N., Ohara Y., Fukai T., Harrison D. G., Nishida K. (1998): Probucol improves endothelial-dependent relaxation and decreases vascular superoxide production in cholesterol-fed rabbits. Am. J. Med. Sci. 315, 242—247
- Inoue T., Takayanagi K., Hayashi T., Morooka S. (2003): Fluvastatin attenuates nitrate tolerance in patients with ischemic heart disease complicating hypercholesterolemia. Int. J. Cardiol. 90, 181—188
- Irani K., Xia Y., Zweier J. L., Sollott S. J., Der C. J., Fearon E. R., Sundaresan M., Finkel T., Goldschmidt-Clermont P. J. (1997): Mitogenic signaling mediated by oxidants in ras-transformed fibroblasts. Science 275, 1649—1652
- Ishibashi Y., Shimada T., Murakami Y., Takahashi N., Sakane T., Sugamori T., Ohata S., Inoue S., Ohta Y., Nakamura K., Shimizu H., Katoh H., Hashimoto M. (2001): An inhibitor of inducible nitric oxide synthase decreases forearm blood flow in patients with congestive heart failure. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 38, 1470—1476
- Jung O., Marklund S. L., Geiger H., Pedrazzini T., Busse R., Brandes R. P. (2003): Extracellular superoxide dismutase is a major determinant of nitric oxide bioavailability:

in vivo and ex vivo evidence from ecSOD-deficient mice. Circ. Res. 93, 622-629

- Kaesemeyer W. H., Ogonowski A. A., Jin L., Caldwell R. B., Caldwell R. W. (2000): Endothelial nitric oxide synthase is a site of superoxide synthesis in endothelial cells treated with glyceryl trinitrate. Br. J. Pharmacol. 131, 1019–1023
- Kaminski K. A., Bonda T. A., Korecki J., Musial W. J. (2002): Oxidative stress and neutrophil activation – the two keystones of ischemia/reperfusion injury. Int. J. Cardiol. 86, 41—59
- Kim G. W., Kondo T., Noshita N., Chan P. H. (2002): Manganese superoxide dismutase deficiency exacerbates cerebral infarction after focal cerebral ischemia/reperfusion in mice: implications for the production and role of superoxide radicals. Stroke 33, 809—815
- Kim K. S., Takeda K., Sethi R., Pracyk J. B., Tanaka K., Zhou Y. F., Yu Z. X., Ferrans V. J., Bruder J. T., Kovesdi I., Irani K., Goldschmidt-Clermont P., Finkel T. (1998): Protection from reoxygenation injury by inhibition of rac1. J. Clin. Invest. 101, 1821—1826
- Kimura C., Oike M., Ito Y. (2000): Hypoxia-induced alterations in Ca²⁺ mobilization in brain microvascular endothelial cells. Am. J. Physiol. – Heart Circ. Physiol. 279, H2310—2318
- Koksoy C., Uydes-Dogan B. S., Kuzu M. A., Aydemir-Koksoy A., Demirpence E., Kesenci M. (2000): Effects of intestinal ischemia-reperfusion on major conduit arteries. J. Invest. Surg. 13, 35—43
- Kontos H. A. (2001): Oxygen radicals in cerebral ischemia: the 2001 Willis lecture. Stroke ${\bf 32},\,2712{--}2716$
- Kown M. H., Lijkwan M. A., Jahncke C. L., Murata S., Rothbard J. B., Robbins R. C. (2003): L-Arginine polymers enhance coronary flow and reduce oxidative stress following cardiac transplantation in rats. J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 126, 1065— 1070
- Kozower B. D., Christofidou-Solomidou M., Sweitzer T. D., Muro S., Buerk D. G., Solomides C. C., Albelda S. M., Patterson G. A., Muzykantov V. R. (2003): Immunotargeting of catalase to the pulmonary endothelium alleviates oxidative stress and reduces acute lung transplantation injury. Nat. Biotechnol. 21, 392—398
- Kukreja R. C., Kontos H. A., Hess M. L., Ellis E. F. (1986): PGH synthase and lipoxygenase generate superoxide in the presence of NADH or NADPH. Circ. Res. 59, 612—619
- Kurz S., Hink U., Nickenig G., Borthayre A. B., Harrison D. G., Munzel T. (1999): Evidence for a causal role of the renin-angiotensin system in nitrate tolerance. Circulation 99, 3181—3187
- Kwong L. K., Sohal R. S. (1998): Substrate and site specificity of hydrogen peroxide generation in mouse mitochondria. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. **350**, 118—126
- Landmesser U., Harrison D. G. (2001): Oxidative stress and vascular damage in hypertension. Coron. Artery Dis. 12, 455—461
- Landmesser U., Dikalov S., Price S. R., McCann L., Fukai T., Holland S. M., Mitch W. E., Harrison D. G. (2003): Oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin leads to uncoupling of endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase in hypertension. J. Clin. Invest. 111, 1201— 1209
- Lassegue B., Clempus R. E. (2003): Vascular NAD(P)H oxidases: specific features, expression, and regulation. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 285, R277—297
- Lassegue B., Sorescu D., Szöcs K., Yin Q., Akers M., Zhang Y., Grant S. L., Lambeth J. D., Griendling K. K. (2001): Novel gp91(phox) homologues in vascular smooth mus-

cle cells : nox1 mediates angiotensin II-induced superoxide formation and redoxsensitive signaling pathways. Circ. Res. 88, 888—894

- Laursen J. B., Somers M., Kurz S., McCann L., Warnholtz A., Freeman B. A., Tarpey M., Fukai T., Harrison D. G. (2001): Endothelial regulation of vasomotion in apoEdeficient mice: implications for interactions between peroxynitrite and tetrahydrobiopterin. Circulation 103, 1282—1288
- Leopold J. A., Loscalzo J. (2003): Organic nitrate tolerance and endothelial dysfunction: role of folate therapy. Minerva Cardioangiol. 51, 349—359
- Li C., Jackson R. M. (2002): Reactive species mechanisms of cellular hypoxia-reoxygenation injury. Am. J. Physiol. – Cell. Physiol. 282, C227—241
- Lincoln T. M., Dey N., Sellak H. (2001): Invited review: cGMP-dependent protein kinase signaling mechanisms in smooth muscle: from the regulation of tone to gene expression. J. Appl. Physiol. **91**, 1421—1430
- Linke A., Recchia F., Zhang X., Hintze T. H. (2003): Acute and chronic endothelial dysfunction: implications for the development of heart failure. Heart Fail. Rev. 8, 87–97
- Makimattila S., Yki-Jarvinen H. (2002): Endothelial dysfunction in human diabetes. Curr. Diab. Rep. **2**, 26—36
- Matoba T., Shimokawa H., Nakashima M., Hirakawa Y., Mukai Y., Hirano K., Kanaide H., Takeshita A. (2000): Hydrogen peroxide is an endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor in mice. J. Clin. Invest. **106**, 1521–1530
- Matoba T., Shimokawa H., Kubota H., Morikawa K., Fujiki T., Kunihiro I., Mukai Y., Hirakawa Y., Takeshita A. (2002): Hydrogen peroxide is an endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor in human mesenteric arteries. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 290, 909—913
- McVeigh G. E., Hamilton P., Wilson M., Hanratty C. G., Leahey W. J., Devine A. B., Morgan D. G., Dixon L. J., McGrath L. T. (2002): Platelet nitric oxide and superoxide release during the development of nitrate tolerance – effect of supplemental ascorbate. Circulation **106**, 208—213
- Meneshian A., Bulkley G. B. (2002): The physiology of endothelial xanthine oxidase: from urate catabolism to reperfusion injury to inflammatory signal transduction. Microcirculation 9, 161—175
- Menger M. D., Pelikan S., Steiner D., Messmer K. (1992): Microvascular ischemia-reperfusion injury in striated muscle: significance of "reflow paradox". Am. J. Physiol. – Heart. Circ. Physiol. 263, H1901—1906
- Mihm M. J., Coyle C. M., Jing L., Bauer J. A. (1999): Vascular Peroxynitrite Formation during Organic Nitrate Tolerance. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. **291**, 194–198
- Mohazzab K. M., Wolin M. S. (1994): Sites of superoxide anion production detected by lucigenin in calf pulmonary artery smooth muscle. Am. J. Physiol. – Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 267, L815—822
- Mollnau H., Wendt M., Szöcs K., Lassegue B., Schulz E., Oelze M., Li H., Bodenschatz M., August M., Kleschyov A. L., Tsilimingas N., Walter U., Forstermann U., Meinertz T., Griendling K., Munzel T. (2002): Effects of angiotensin II infusion on the expression and function of NAD(P)H oxidase and components of nitric oxide/cGMP signaling. Circ. Res. 90, E58—65
- Mügge A., Elwell J. H., Peterson T. E., Hofmeyer T. G., Heistad D. D., Harrison D. G. (1991): Chronic treatment with polyethylene-glycolated superoxide dismutase partially restores endothelium-dependent vascular relaxations in cholesterol-fed rabbits. Circ. Res. 69, 1293—1300
- Mulsch A., Oelze M., Kloss S., Mollnau H., Topfer A., Smolenski A., Walter U., Stasch J. P., Warnholtz A., Hink U., Meinertz T., Munzel T. (2001): Effects of *in vivo* nitro-

glycerin treatment on activity and expression of the guanylyl cyclase and cGMPdependent protein kinase and their downstream target vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein in aorta. Circulation **103**, 2188—2194

- Munzel T. (2001): Does nitroglycerin therapy hit the endothelium? J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 38, 1102—1105
- Munzel T., Harrison D. G. (1997): Evidence for a role of oxygen-derived free radicals and protein kinase C in nitrate tolerance. J. Mol. Med. 75, 891—900
- Munzel T., Sayegh H., Freeman B. A., Tarpey M. M., Harrison D. G. (1995): Evidence for enhanced vascular superoxide anion production in nitrate tolerance. A novel mechanism underlying tolerance and cross-tolerance. J. Clin. Invest. 95, 187—194
- Munzel T., Kurz S., Rajagopalan S., Thoenes M., Berrington W. R., Thompson J. A., Freeman B. A., Harrison D. G. (1996): Hydralazine prevents nitroglycerin tolerance by inhibiting activation of a membrane-bound NADH oxidase. A new action for an old drug. J. Clin. Invest. 98, 1465—1470
- Munzel T., Li H., Mollnau H., Hink U., Matheis E., Hartmann M., Oelze M., Skatchkov M., Warnholtz A., Duncker L., Meinertz T., Forstermann U. (2000): Effects of longterm nitroglycerin treatment on endothelial nitric oxide synthase (NOS III) gene expression, NOS III-mediated superoxide production, and vascular NO bioavailability. Circ. Res. 86, E7—12
- Muxfeldt M., Schaper W. (1987): The activity of xanthine oxidase in heart of pigs, guinea pigs, rabbits, rats, and humans. Basic Res. Cardiol. 82, 486—492
- Muzaffar S., Jeremy J. Y., Angelini G. D., Stuart-Smith K., Shukla N. (2003): Role of the endothelium and nitric oxide synthases in modulating superoxide formation induced by endotoxin and cytokines in porcine pulmonary arteries. Thorax 58, 598—604
- Nakae I., Matsumoto T., Omura T., Takashima H., Ohira N., Tarutani Y., Yasuda Y., Matsuo S., Koh T., Nakaura Y., Kinoshita M., Horie M. (2003): Endothelial modulation and tolerance development in the vasorelaxant responses to nitrate of rabbit aorta. Life Sci. 73, 3083—3094
- Nigam R., Anderson D. J., Lee S. F., Bennett B. M. (1996): Isoform-specific biotransformation of glyceryl trinitrate by rat aortic glutathione S-transferases. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 279, 1527—1534
- Nowicki P. T., Flavahan S., Hassanain H., Mitra S., Holland S., Goldschmidt-Clermont P. J., Flavahan N. A. (2001): Redox signaling of the arteriolar myogenic response. Circ. Res. 89, 114—116
- O'Donnell V. B., Chumley P. H., Hogg N., Bloodsworth A., Darley-Usmar V. M., Freeman B. A. (1997): Nitric oxide inhibition of lipid peroxidation: kinetics of reaction with lipid peroxyl radicals and comparison with alpha-tocopherol. Biochemistry 36, 15216—15223
- Oelze M., Mollnau H., Hoffmann N., Warnholtz A., Bodenschatz M., Smolenski A., Walter U., Skatchkov M., Meinertz T., Munzel T. (2000): Vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein serine 239 phosphorylation as a sensitive monitor of defective nitric oxide/cGMP signaling and endothelial dysfunction. Circ. Res. 87, 999—1005
- Ohashi Y., Kawashima S., Hirata K., Yamashita T., Ishida T., Inoue N., Sakoda T., Kurihara H., Yazaki Y., Yokoyama M. (1998): Hypotension and reduced nitric oxide-elicited vasorelaxation in transgenic mice overexpressing endothelial nitric oxide synthase. J. Clin. Invest. 102, 2061—2071
- Ozaki M., Deshpande S. S., Angkeow P., Bellan J., Lowenstein C. J., Dinauer M. C., Goldschmidt-Clermont P. J., Irani K. (2000): Inhibition of the Rac1 GTPase protects against nonlethal ischemia/reperfusion-induced necrosis and apoptosis in vivo. FASEB J. 14, 418—429

- Page N. M. (2002): The endocrinology of pre-eclampsia. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf.) 57, 413-423
- Pagliaro P., Chiribiri A., Mancardi D., Rastaldo R., Gattullo D., Losano G. (2003): Coronary endothelial dysfunction after ischemia and reperfusion and its prevention by ischemic preconditioning. Ital. Heart J. 4, 383—394
- Parker J. O., Parker J. D., Caldwell R. W., Farrell B., Kaesemeyer W. H. (2002): The effect of supplemental L-arginine on tolerance development during continuous transdermal nitroglycerin therapy. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 39, 1199—1203
- Parks D. A., Bulkley G. B., Granger D. N. (1983): Role of oxygen-derived free radicals in digestive tract diseases. Surgery 94, 415—422
- Pearlstein D. P., Ali M. H., Mungai P. T., Hynes K. L., Gewertz B. L., Schumacker P. T. (2002): Role of mitochondrial oxidant generation in endothelial cell responses to hypoxia. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 22, 566—573
- Pernow J., Wang Q. D. (1999): The role of the L-arginine/nitric oxide pathway in myocardial ischaemic and reperfusion injury. Acta Physiol. Scand. **167**, 151–159
- Perticone F., Ceravolo R., Pujia A., Ventura G., Iacopino S., Scozzafava A., Ferraro A., Chello M., Mastroroberto P., Verdecchia P., Schillaci G. (2001): Prognostic significance of endothelial dysfunction in hypertensive patients. Circulation 104, 191-196
- Plateel M., Dehouck M. P., Torpier G., Cecchelli R., Teissier E. (1995): Hypoxia increases the susceptibility to oxidant stress and the permeability of the blood-brain barrier endothelial cell monolayer. J. Neurochem. 65, 2138—2145
- Prasad A., Andrews N. P., Padder F. A., Husain M., Quyyumi A. A. (1999): Glutathione reverses endothelial dysfunction and improves nitric oxide bioavailability. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 34, 507—514
- Prasad K., Bharadwaj L. A. (1996): Hydroxyl radical a mediator of acetylcholine-induced vascular relaxation. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. **28**, 2033—2041
- Puntarulo S., Cederbaum A. I. (1998): Production of reactive oxygen species by microsomes enriched in specific human cytochrome P450 enzymes. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 24, 1324—1330
- Raha S., McEachern G. E., Myint A. T., Robinson B. H. (2000): Superoxides from mitochondrial complex III: the role of manganese superoxide dismutase. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 29, 170—180
- Rey F. E., Cifuentes M. E., Kiarash A., Quinn M. T., Pagano P. J. (2001): Novel competitive inhibitor of NAD(P)H oxidase assembly attenuates vascular O₂⁻ and systolic blood pressure in mice. Circ. Res. 89, 408—414
- Rubanyi G. M., Vanhoutte P. M. (1986): Oxygen-derived free radicals, endothelium, and the responsiveness of vascular smooth muscle. Am. J. Physiol. – Heart Circ. Physiol. 250, H815—821
- Ruiz E., Lorente R., Tejerina T. (1997): Effects of calcium dobesilate on the synthesis of endothelium-dependent relaxing factors in rabbit isolated aorta. Br. J. Pharmacol. 121, 711—716
- Rush J. W., Turk J. R., Laughlin M. H. (2003): Exercise training regulates SOD-1 and oxidative stress in porcine aortic endothelium. Am. J. Physiol. – Heart Circ. Physiol. 284, H1378—1387
- Salvemini D., Cuzzocrea S. (2003): Therapeutic potential of superoxide dismutase mimetics as therapeutic agents in critical care medicine. Crit. Care Med. **31**, S29–38
- Schachinger V., Britten M. B., Zeiher A. M. (2000): Prognostic impact of coronary vasodilator dysfunction on adverse long-term outcome of coronary heart disease. Circulation 101, 1899—1906

- Schulz E., Tsilimingas N., Rinze R., Reiter B., Wendt M., Oelze M., Woelken-Weckmuller S., Walter U., Reichenspurner H., Meinertz T., Munzel T. (2002): Functional and biochemical analysis of endothelial (dys)function and NO/cGMP signaling in human blood vessels with and without nitroglycerin pretreatment. Circulation 105, 1170—1175
- Shlafer M., Myers C. L., Adkins S. (1987): Mitochondrial hydrogen peroxide generation and activities of glutathione peroxidase and superoxide dismutase following global ischemia. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 19, 1195—1206
- Sohn H. Y., Krotz F., Gloe T., Keller M., Theisen K., Klauss V., Pohl U. (2003): Differential regulation of xanthine and NAD(P)H oxidase by hypoxia in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. Role of nitric oxide and adenosine. Cardiovasc. Res. 58, 638—646
- Sotníková R. (1998): Investigation of the mechanisms underlying H_2O_2 -evoked contraction in the isolated rat aorta. Gen. Pharmacol. **31**, 115—119
- Sotníková R., Okruhlicová L., NoskoviĹ P. (1998): Endothelial protective effect of stobadine on ischaemia/reperfusion-induced injury. Gen. Physiol. Biophys. **17**, 253—264
- Steinhorn R. H., Albert G., Swartz D. D., Russell J. A., Levine C. R., Davis J. M. (2001): Recombinant human superoxide dismutase enhances the effect of inhaled nitric oxide in persistent pulmonary hypertension. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 164, 834—839
- Taddei S., Salvetti A. (2002): Endothelial dysfunction in essential hypertension: clinical implications. J. Hypertens. **20**, 1671—1674
- Terada L. S. (1996): Hypoxia-reoxygenation increases O₂⁻⁻ efflux which injures endothelial cells by an extracellular mechanism. Am. J. Physiol. – Heart Circ. Physiol. 270, H945—950
- Thadani U. (1997): Nitrate tolerance, rebound, and their clinical relevance in stable angina pectoris, unstable angina, and heart failure. Cardiovasc. Drugs Ther. **10**, 735–742
- Tiefenbacher C. P. (2001): Tetrahydrobiopterin: a critical cofactor for eNOS and a strategy in the treatment of endothelial dysfunction? Am. J. Physiol. – Heart Circ. Physiol. 280, H2484—2488
- Ting H. H., Timimi F. K., Boles K. S., Creager S. J., Ganz P., Creager M. A. (1995): Vitamin C acutely improves endothelium-dependent vasodilation in patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Circulation 92 (Suppl. 1), 1747
- Tsao P. S., Aoki N., Lefer D. J., Johnson G. 3rd, Lefer A. M. (1990): Time course of endothelial dysfunction and myocardial injury during myocardial ischemia and reperfusion in the cat. Circulation 82, 1402—1412
- Ushio-Fukai M., Tang Y., Fukai T., Dikalov S. I., Ma Y., Fujimoto M., Quinn M. T., Pagano P. J., Johnson C., Alexander R. W. (2002): Novel role of gp91(phox)containing NAD(P)H oxidase in vascular endothelial growth factor-induced signaling and angiogenesis. Circ. Res. **91**, 1160—1167
- Vanden Hoek T. L., Li C., Shao Z., Schumacker P. T., Becker L. B. (1997): Significant levels of oxidants are generated by isolated cardiomyocytes during ischemia prior to reperfusion. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 29, 2571—2583
- Vanhoutte P. M. (2000): Say NO to ET. J. Auton. Nerv. Syst. 81, 271-277
- Vasquez-Vivar J., Kalyanaraman B., Martasek P., Hogg N., Masters B. S., Karoui H., Tordo P., Pritchard K. A. Jr. (1998): Superoxide generation by endothelial nitric oxide synthase: the influence of cofactors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 95, 9220— 9225
- Verhaar M. C., Stroes E., Rabelink T. J. (2002): Folates and cardiovascular disease. Atheroscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. **22**, 6—13

- Wassmann S., Laufs U., Muller K., Konkol C., Ahlbory K., Baumer A. T., Linz W., Bohm M., Nickenig G. (2002): Cellular antioxidant effects of atorvastatin *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. **22**, 300–305
- Watanabe H., Kakihana M., Ohtsuka S., Sugishita Y. (1997): Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of supplemental vitamin E on attenuation of the development of nitrate tolerance. Circulation 96, 2545—2550
- Watanabe H., Kakihana M., Ohtsuka S., Sugishita Y. (1998): Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of the preventive effect of supplemental oral vitamin C on attenuation of development of nitrate tolerance. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. **31**, 1323– 1329
- Waypa G. B., Schumacker P. T. (2002): O₂ sensing in hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction: the mitochondrial door re-opens. Respir. Physiol. Neurobiol. **132**, 81–91
- Wong P. S., Fukuto J. M. (1999): Reaction of organic nitrate esters and S-nitrosothiols with reduced flavins: a possible mechanism of bioactivation. Drug Metab. Dispos. 27, 502—509
- Yada T., Shimokawa H., Hiramatsu O., Kajita T., Shigeto F., Goto M., Ogasawara Y., Kajiya F. (2003): Hydrogen peroxide, an endogenous endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor, plays an important role in coronary autoregulation *in vivo*. Circulation 107, 1040—1045
- Yamashiro S., Noguchi K., Kuniyoshi Y., Koja K., Sakanashi M. (2003): Role of tetrahydrobiopterin on ischemia-reperfusion injury in isolated perfused rat hearts. J. Cardiovasc. Surg. (Torino) 44, 37—49
- Yamashita T., Kawashima S., Ohashi Y., Ozaki M., Rikitake Y., Inoue N., Hirata K., Akita H., Yokoyama M. (2000): Mechanisms of reduced nitric oxide/cGMP-mediated vasorelaxation in transgenic mice overexpressing endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Hypertension 36, 97—102
- Zhao Z. Q., Corvera J. S., Halkos M. E., Kerendi F., Wang N. P., Guyton R. A., Vinten-Johansen J. (2003): Inhibition of myocardial injury by ischemic postconditioning during reperfusion: comparison with ischemic preconditioning. Am. J. Physiol. – Heart Circ. Physiol. 285, H579—588
- Zierhut W., Ball H. A. (1996): Prevention of vascular nitroglycerin tolerance by inhibition of protein kinase C. Br. J. Pharmacol. **119**, 3–5
- Zulueta J. J., Yu F. S., Hertig I. A., Thannickal V. J., Hassoun P. M. (1995): Release of hydrogen peroxide in response to hypoxia-reoxygenation: role of an NAD(P)H oxidase-like enzyme in endothelial cell plasma membrane. Am. J. Respir. Cell. Mol. Biol. 12, 41-49
- Zweier J. L., Kuppusamy P., Thompson-Gorman S., Klunk D., Lutty G. A. (1994): Measurement and characterization of free radical generation in reoxygenated human endothelial cells. Am. J. Physiol. – Cell Physiol. 266, C700—708

Final version accepted: April 5, 2004